ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DARLINGTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000395

RECEIVED
NOV 18 2015
SC Court of Appeals

The State, Respondent,

v.

Damyon M. Cotton, Appellant,

APPELLANT'S AMENDED FINAL BRIEF

Other Counsel of Record:

John Woodrow Holt, IV, Esquire
Fourth Circuit Solicitor's Office
1 Public Square, Rm. 410
Darlington, SC 29532

Salley W. Elliott, Esquire
Assistant Attorney General
Rembert Dennis Building, Room 519
1000 Assembly Street
Columbia, SC 29201

Alan McCrory Wilson, Esquire
Rembert Dennis Building, Room 519
1000 Assembly Street
Columbia, SC 29201

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in admitting evidence of a prior alleged bad act involving a single, isolated incident with a female that was wholly unrelated to and not the subject of the charged offense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Damyon M. Cotton was arrested on February 13, 2013, in connection with the sexual assault of Yasmin Cusack. (R. pp. 455-58). The Darlington County grand jury indicted Cotton for criminal sexual conduct in the first degree and kidnapping on July 18, 2013. (R. pp. 455-58). The case proceeded to trial before a jury in the Darlington County court of general sessions on February 24, 2014. (R. p. 1). The Honorable J. Michael Baxley presided as the trial judge. (R. pp. 459-60). The jury convicted Cotton as charged, and the trial court sentenced him to fifteen years on each charge, to run concurrently. (R. pp. 435, l. 18-p. 436, l. 13; 459-60). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. *Lyle* Hearing

Prior to trial, the State moved to admit evidence of a prior bad act. (R. p. 3, ll. 4-5). The trial court held a hearing pursuant to *State v. Lyle*.¹ (R. pp. 3-89). In its memorandum in support of this motion, the State originally indicated that it planned to introduce evidence of three prior bad acts; however, it ultimately only presented one. (R. p. 4, ll. 12-14). During the *Lyle* hearing, the State presented testimony from the following witnesses: An alleged prior bad act witness; Yasmin Cusack, the witness whom Cotton was on trial for allegedly assaulting; and Cotton. (R. pp. 3-60).

A. **Cusack: The Alleged Victim**

Cusack testified first. (R. p. 5). She testified that she met Cotton through a friend and explained that their first communication was on the telephone through a chat line

¹ *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 415-16, 118 S.E. 803, 807 (1923).

service.² (R. p. 6, ll. 16-p. 7, l. 4). In explaining how the chat line worked, Cusack stated that the chat line would prompt a user to select whether they wanted to “talk to the fellas or ladies” and then it would prompt a user to leave a greeting describing oneself. (R. p. 7, l. 5-11, p. 17, ll. 14-21, p. 164, ll. 13-19). According to Cusack, when a user found someone they were interested in, they would exchange numbers with that person. (R. p. 7, ll. 7-11). Cusack exchanged numbers with Cotton, and they began calling each other after that.³ (R. p. 7, ll. 7-15, p. 41, ll. 8-12). Cusack was 18 at the time. (R. p. 16, ll. 10-12).

Initially, Cusack testified that she and Cotton only met in person on one occasion.⁴ (R. p. 13, ll. 19-21, p. 18, ll. 23-25). According to Cusack, she and Cotton made plans to go see a movie on the night of February 1, 2013. (R. p. 7, ll. 17-20, p. 8, ll. 1-11). Prior to the movie outing, Cusack testified that she had called Cotton to ask him what he wanted for Valentine’s Day. (R. p. 7, ll. 10-14). Cusack stated that Cotton picked her up from her house around 6:40 p.m. that night to go to the movies. (R. p. 8, ll.

² During the pre-trial hearing on cross-examination, Cusack testified that she first met Cotton through a chat line and then ended up meeting him through a friend of hers named Tanzy. (R. p. 17, ll. 24-25). At trial, Cusack testified that she knew Cotton “[b]asically like through a friend.” (R. p. 132, ll. 8-9).

³ Cusack told Investigators Scott Gauger and Brandon Peavy that she met Cotton through a friend. (R. p. 204, ll. 15-19, p. 209, ll. 22-25). She never mentioned anything to Investigators Gauger or Peavy about meeting Cotton through a chat line. (R. p. 204, ll. 20-23, p. 227, ll. 10-12). Additionally, this was the first time that defense counsel heard the theory that Cusack and Cotton met on a chat line. (R. p. 77, l. 25-p. 78, l. 8). The discovery materials indicated that Cusack and Cotton met through Cusack’s friend named Tanzy. (R. p. 78, ll. 2-4).

⁴ During trial, Cusack testified that she had seen Cotton on two different occasions. (R. p. 128, l. 25-p. 129, l. 6). She stated that she saw him at her friend Tanzy’s house, approximately two weeks before February 1, 2013, which was the date on which she claimed to have a second in-person meeting with Cotton. (R. p. 90, l. 25-p. 91, l. 6, p. 92, ll. 5-8).

9-14, 24-p. 9, l. 1, p. 18, ll. 3-7, p. 147, ll. 10-14). Cusack alleged that when they arrived at the movie theater Cotton forced her to perform oral sex.⁵ (R. p. 9, ll. 2-8).

After leaving the movie theater, Cusack testified that they went to K-Mart to go Valentine's Day shopping.⁶ (R. p. 9, ll. 9-14, p. 122, ll. 13-15). While in the K-mart parking lot, Cusack testified that Cotton gave her fifteen dollars and asked her to perform oral sex, to which she told him no.⁷ (R. p. 9, ll. 15-20). Cusack then asked Cotton whether he was going to accompany her inside K-mart. (R. p. 9, ll. 15-22, p. 122, l. 22-p. 123, l. 9). He told her no, at which point she threw the money back at him and told him to take her home.⁸ (R. p. 9, ll. 15-22, p. 122, l. 22-p. 123, l. 9).

Cusack claimed that after leaving K-mart, she and Cotton drove to Turnpike Road. (R. p. 9, l. 25-p. 10, l. 3). When they arrived at a wooded area on Turnpike Road, Cusack stated that Cotton took her phone and told her "[you] been telling [me] a long

⁵ At trial Cusack testified that she did not perform oral sex while in the movie theater parking lot. (R. p. 121, l. 24-p. 122, l. 8). In her written statement that she gave to law enforcement on the night of the incident, Cusack also did not report that oral sex occurred at this location; however, she claimed that Cotton "forced [her] to have sex with him in the [movie theater] parking lot." (R. p. 498).

⁶ Cusack testified she believed Cotton was going to give her a Valentine's Day gift and that she planned to give him one as well. (R. p. 9, ll. 11-15, p. 122, ll. 14-21, p. 150, l. 20-p. 151, l. 3).

⁷ On cross-examination prior to trial, Cusack claimed that Cotton forced her to perform oral sex in the K-mart parking lot. (R. p. 18, ll. 11-14). At trial, Cusack testified she did not perform oral sex at this location. (R. p. 122, l. 24-p. 123, l. 3). In the statement that she gave law enforcement that night, Cusack did not report that oral sex occurred in the K-mart parking lot. (R. p. 498).

⁸ In her written statement, Cusack stated that Cotton told her "if [she] suck his dick he'll take me Valentine shopping. Then we went to K-mart and he hand me \$ 15 dollars. I ask him was he going in the store with me[;] he said no[,] he don't feel like it." (R. pp. 160-163; 498).

time that [you] was gonna give [me] some and so now is the time.” (R. p. 10, ll. 16-21). Cusack stated Cotton then forced her to perform oral sex.⁹ (R. pp. 11, ll. 9-11; 23-24).

Cusack explained that Cotton then began to try to take her pants off while he was in the car, but unable to, he got out of the car and went around to the passenger side door and removed her from the car. (R. p. 11, l. 24-p. 12, ll. 1, 22-p. 13, l. 8). Cusack claimed that Cotton then began undressing her outside of the car and told her “it was the time . . . to . . . give him some ‘cause like we were talking on the phone about it.” (R. p. 13, l. 7-18). Cusack stated that she told Cotton she was pregnant and that she had herpes to try to get him to stop. (R. p. 13, l. 24-p. 14, l. 4). According to Cusack, Cotton then put on condom and they had vaginal intercourse.¹⁰ (R. p. 14, ll. 6-7). Afterwards, Cusack testified that Cotton threw the condom in the woods, handed her clothes to her, and then took her home. (R. p. 14, l. 16-p. 15, l. 5). Cusack stated on the way home, Cotton apologized, told her that he loved her, and to call him when she got inside her house. (R. p. 14, ll. 21-25).

Prior to the alleged sexual assault, Cusack claimed that Cotton threatened her with a gun.¹¹ (R. p. 16, ll. 13-16). Although Cusack claimed that Cotton threatened her with a gun, she stated that she never saw Cotton with a gun nor did he ever present one to her.

⁹ Prior to trial, Cusack testified that only vaginal sex occurred on Turnpike Road. (R. p. 15, l. 19-p. 16, l. 1).

¹⁰ At trial, Cusack’s testimony conflicted yet again. There, she testified that Cotton dragged her out of the car and attempted to get her to perform oral sex; however, she refused. (R. p. 12, ll. 5-6). She stated he then restrained her and they engaged in vaginal intercourse. (R. p. 12, ll. 5-18).

¹¹ At trial, Investigator Gauger testified that Cusack never reported that Cotton threatened her with a gun. (R. p. 203, ll. 7-18).

(R. p. 16, ll. 20-21). Cusack stated that Cotton dropped her off at her house around 8:00 p.m. (R. p. 158, ll. 24-25).

After Cusack got home, she and her mother went to McLeod hospital. (R. p. 127, ll. 10-17). Here, a sexual assault kit was performed. (R. pp. 235, ll. 14-16; 463-69). During the examination, Cusack reported to the ER nurse that she had genital herpes. (R. pp. 237, ll. 14-17; 463-69).

B. The Alleged Prior Victim

The alleged prior victim (the “Prior Victim”) testified next. (R. p. 20). Prior Victim explained that she met Cotton through Facebook. (R. p. 20, l. 24-p. 21, l. 1). According to Prior Victim, she posted a status update on Facebook asking anyone if they wanted to “chill.”¹² (R. p. 21, ll. 7-8). Cotton liked this status update, and they began messaging. (R. p. 21, ll. 7-9, p. 30, ll. 19-20). Subsequently, Cotton picked Prior Victim up from her friend’s house.¹³ (R. p. 21, ll. 14-15). Cotton’s brother was sitting in the front passenger seat of Cotton’s car, so Prior Victim got into the back seat behind Cotton’s brother. (R. p. 21, ll. 21-23). Prior Victim agreed to ride with Cotton to Hartsville to take his brother home. (R. p. 21, ll. 14-21). After Cotton dropped his

¹² “Chill” is defined in the Urban Dictionary as “a code word for sex.” *See Chill*, Urban Dictionary (July 2, 2006), <http://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=Chill>. Time Magazine rated Urban Dictionary as one of its “50 Best Websites” in 2008, and described it as follows: “To stay hip, visit Urban Dictionary, which has millions of user-submitted words and definitions. Visitors can vote on the best entries” Anita Hamilton, Urban Dictionary - 50 Best Websites 2008, Time (Jun. 17, 2008), http://www.time.com/time/specials/2007/article/0,28804,1809858_1809955_1811527,00.html. As of March 23, 2015, the cited definition had 165 “up” votes and 92 “down” votes.

¹³ This occurred in June 2012. (R. p. 21, ll. 2-7). The Prior Victim was 15 at the time. (R. p. 20, ll. 22-23).

brother off in Hartsville, Prior Victim stated that Cotton began touching her. (R. p. 21, ll. 21-24). At that time, he was in the driver seat, and she was still located in the backseat behind the front passenger side of the car. (R. p. 21, l. 21-p. 22, l. 4).

Prior Victim asked Cotton whether he had a phone charger because her phone was dead. (R. p. 22, ll. 6-7). According to Prior Victim, he then drove to one of his friend's house where he told her she could obtain a phone charger. (R. p. 22, ll. 6-9). Prior Victim stated Cotton went into the house; however, when he came out, he did not have a phone charger. (R. p. 22, ll. 6-10).

After leaving his friend's house, Prior Victim stated that they drove to and pulled into a driveway with a trailer and a shed in the back. (R. p. 22, ll. 15-18). Here, Prior Victim testified that she got out of the back seat and moved to the front passenger seat. (R. p. 23, ll. 22-23). According to Prior Victim, Cotton told her that she could charge her phone in the shed, but she declined the offer. (R. p. 22, ll. 17-20).

Prior Victim testified that Cotton then asked her to perform oral sex. (R. p. 22, ll. 20-21). Prior Victim responded, "no, like I told you before, I didn't want to do nothing like that." (R. p. 23, ll. 5-7). Prior Victim testified that prior to their meeting, she messaged Cotton on Facebook and told him she "didn't want to do nothing like that 'cause, I mean, I just wanted to go ahead and make that clear." (R. p. 30, ll. 21-23). Prior Victim stated that Cotton then got of the car and came around to the passenger side door and began hitting her, at which time she told Cotton that she would perform oral

sex. (R. p. 24, ll. 8-17). Cotton got back into the car, and Prior Victim performed oral sex.¹⁴ (R. p. 24, ll. 16-17).

Afterwards, Cotton drove to a different driveway surrounded by trees. (R. p. 24, ll. 17-20). Here, Cotton allegedly told Prior Victim to remove her pants and get out of the car. (R. p. 24, l. 20-21, p. 26, ll. 3-4). Prior Victim took off her pants and got out of the car. (R. p. 25, ll. 1-2). Prior Victim testified that Cotton picked her up and put her on the hood of the car. (R. p. 26, ll. 9-12). They then had vaginal and anal sexual intercourse with a condom. (R. p. 25, ll. 2-3, 19). Prior Victim testified during intercourse Cotton asked her if she thought it was rape; if she wanted to have his kids; and for her to call him names such as “daddy.” (R. pp. 26, ll. 14-16; 176). According to Prior Victim, she told Cotton that she was on her period in an attempt to get him to stop. (R. p. 25, ll. 21-23). This occurred around 9:00 p.m. (R. p. 25, l. 5).

Prior Victim stated that she went to McLeod hospital after she got home. (R. p. 27, l. 6-9). The hospital performed a sexual assault kit, which included testing for sexually transmitted diseases. (R. p. 31, ll. 19-23). Prior Victim testified that the STD test indicated that she had Chlamydia. (R. p. 32, ll. 10-12). Prior Victim also testified that she gave a statement to law enforcement regarding the incident and that they took photographs of her immediately after the incident. (R. p. 32, ll. 13-14; p. 180, ll. 10-13).

C. Cotton: The Appellant

Cotton testified after Prior Victim. (R. p. 40). Cotton was twenty-one years old at the time of trial. (R. p. 40, ll. 16-17). Cotton testified that he met Cusack through one

¹⁴ Prior Victim’s testimony at trial suggests that she performed oral sex while Cotton was driving. (R. p. 175, ll. 2-4).

of his male friends around October 2012. (R. p. 41, ll. 9-12). He explained that they first began communicating over the phone. (R. p. 41, ll. 10-12). He and Cusack had a romantic relationship that lasted for approximately three to four months. (R. p. 41, ll. 14-15, p. 54, ll. 10-13, p. 55, ll. 4-5, p. 349, ll. 22-25).

When Cotton first spoke to Cusack, she lied to him and gave him a false name. (R. p. 42, ll. 1-5). According to Cusack, her name was Crystal Johnson. (R. p. 42, ll. 4-5). He did not learn of her true identity until he was served with a warrant for the present charges. (R. p. 45, l. 22-p. 46, l. 2, p. 347, ll. 2-6).

i. Backpages.com Testimony

Cotton and Cusack (aka Crystal Johnson) continued to see each other, and at one point during their relationship, Cotton's cousin showed Cotton a website called Backpages.com.¹⁵ (R. p. 42, ll. 11-14). Cotton thought that Backpages was a social media site similar to Facebook. (R. p. 42, ll. 12-18). However, after a closer review, Cotton realized that Backpages was essentially an escort service. (R. p. 42, ll. 17-20). While looking on the website, Cotton saw a profile with a profile picture of a female who looked very similar to who he believed at the time was "Crystal Johnson." (R. p. 42, ll. 12-14, 22-24). Cotton enlarged the profile picture and determined that it was indeed "Crystal Johnson," who he later determined was Cusack. (R. p. 42, l. 22-p. 43, l. 2). Cotton stated that Cusack's profile name on Backpages was "Crystal Lollipop." (R. p.

¹⁵"Backpage.com" is a website that contains a section for listing "adult entertainment" services. Although the website officially prohibits illegal services including prostitution, it contains dozens of listings explicitly for sex. Feyerick, Deborah; Sheila Steffe (11 May 2011). "A lurid journey through Backpage.com". CNN. The CNN Freedom Project (blog).

45, ll. 9-15). Cotton later confronted Cusack over the phone about having a profile on Backpages.com. (R. p. 42, l. 11-p. 43, l. 7).

ii. The Breakdown of Cotton and Cusack's Relationship

Throughout their relationship, Cotton was suspicious that Cusack was being unfaithful to him. (R. p. 346-347). On one occasion, Cotton called Cusack and heard noises in the background indicating that Cusack and another male were having sexual relations. (R. p. 43, l. 22-p. 44, l. 3). Cotton hung up the phone believing he had dialed the wrong number. (R. p. 44, ll. 3-7). Soon after, Cusack called him back. (R. p. 44, ll. 6-7). While speaking with Cusack, Cotton heard a male in the background saying, "how you gonna be on the phone with somebody else and I'm paying for my time." (R. p. 44, ll. 10-11). Cotton immediately ended his relationship with Cusack over the phone. (R. p. 44, ll. 11-14).

Cotton proceeded to receive texts from the other male instructing Cotton to not "be calling my girl when she with me. If you're gonna try to get your time, pay for your time like I pay for mine." (R. p. 44, ll. 17-20). The last communication Cotton had with Cusack occurred on the night of February 1, 2013. (R. p. 44, l. 22-p. 45, l. 5). He received a text from her stating, "*if you want to play games I can play games just as well.*" (R. p. 44, l. 25-p. 45, l. 2).

iii. Cotton's Testimony Regarding the Alleged Prior Victim

In regard to the alleged Prior Victim, Cotton testified that he first began communicating with her *after she messaged him* on Facebook asking for help. (R. p. 47, ll. 19-21). Cotton told her he could. (R. p. 47, ll. 22-24). Subsequently, he met her at a Sav-way store. (R. p. 48, ll. 13-14). Cotton's brother was in the car when he met Prior

Victim. (R. p. 48, ll. 3-14). Prior Victim asked Cotton whether he would give her a ride somewhere, and Cotton told her that he did not mind. (R. p. 48, ll. 15-16). Cotton drove her to a house where she picked up a large bag of clothes. (R. p. 48, ll. 17-20). As Prior Victim opened the door of the car while also holding the large bag of clothes, she accidentally hit her eye on the corner of the door. (R. p. 48, ll. 20-22). After they dropped off Cotton's brother, Prior Victim asked Cotton whether he would take her to a friend's house because she was having trouble at home. (R. p. 49, ll. 5-12). Cotton then dropped Prior Victim off at her friend's house. (R. p. 49, l. 17-p. 50, l. 2).

D. The Trial Court's Initial Ruling

After hearing the State and Cotton's arguments regarding the prior bad act evidence, the trial court found that the prior bad act was relevant, was established by clear and convincing evidence, and fell within the common scheme exception to Rule 404(b), SCRE. (R. p. 82, l. 14-p. 88, l. 14). The trial court also found that the probative value of the prior bad act outweighed its prejudicial nature under Rule 403, SCRE. (R. p. 88, l.15-p. 89, l. 17).

II. The Trial

During trial, the State presented the testimony of Prior Victim. (R. p. 170, l. 24-p. 171, l. 2). Defense counsel renewed her objection to Prior Victim testifying. (R. p. 170, ll. 16-17). The trial court overruled the objection as it previously decided. (R. p. 170, ll. 18-19).

The defense established an alibi defense at trial. (R. pp. 301-367). Particularly, the defense established that Cotton's car was inoperable on February 1, 2013, and that he was with his friend Calvin on the night of February 1, 2013. (R. pp. 301-367).

Cotton was found guilty of criminal sexual conduct in the first degree and kidnapping. (R. p. 435, l. 18-p. 436, l. 13). The trial court sentenced him to fifteen years. (R. p. 452, ll. 22-25). This appeal now follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in admitting prior bad act evidence when: the prior bad act was not proven by clear and convincing evidence; the prior bad act and the crime charged were not similar; rather, they were only linked by general similarities; and the probative value of the prior bad act was outweighed by its prejudicial effect.

I. Standard of Review

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Atieh*, 397 S.C. 641, 647, 725 S.E.2d 730, 733 (Ct. App. 2012) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*

II. Applicable Law

A. General Admissibility

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