ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DARLINGTON COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000395

RECEIVED

OCT 07 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DAMYON M. COTTON,

APPELLANT.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 102259

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM B. ROGERS, JR.  
Solicitor, Fourth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 616  
Bennettsville, South Carolina 29512  
(843) 479-6516

**ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT**

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

Appellant also stresses in his Brief that his crimes were not “unique.” (See Brief of Appellant, p. 20-21). However, prior bad act evidence admitted under the common scheme or plan exception need not illustrate that the defendant’s crime is so unique that it could have only been committed by the same person; instead, it need only demonstrate a close degree of similarity to the charged offense such that it illustrates a common scheme or plan. Cf. People v. Ewoldt, 7 Cal.4th 380, 403, 867 P.2d 757, 770 (1994) (stating that “[t]o establish the existence of a common design or plan, the common features must indicate the existence of a plan rather than a series of similar spontaneous acts, but the plan thus revealed need not be distinctive or unusual,” while noting that with respect to the “identity” exception, “[t]he greatest degree of similarity is required” in that “the uncharged misconduct and the charged offense must share common features that are sufficiently distinctive so as to support the inference that the same person committed both acts.”).

Appellant further argues that the differences between the two incidents far outweigh the similarities. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 21-26). To the contrary, although there are minor dissimilarities between the sexual assaults of the victim and of Minor, the relevant, significant similarities greatly outweigh any minor, insignificant dissimilarities. See State v. Scott, 405 S.C. 489, 501, 748 S.E.2d 236, 243 (Ct. App. 2013) (“Although we recognize that these points of distinction do exist, we find the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining these distinctions were insufficient to outweigh the many other similarities.”), *cert. dismissed as improvidently granted* July 1,

2015; Wallace, 384 S.C. at 433, 683 S.E.2d at 278 (“When the similarities outweigh the dissimilarities, the bad act evidence is admissible under Rule 404(b).”). The two sexual assaults bore a high degree of similarity. See Scott, 405 S.C. at 501, 748 S.E.2d at 243 (“Despite Appellant's contention to the contrary, the bad act evidence bore the requisite degree of similarity.”). Appellant’s actions in committing the two sexual assaults in this case followed a consistent pattern and illustrated his common scheme and plan. Accordingly, evidence of Appellant’s sexual assault on Minor was admissible as common scheme or plan evidence under Rule 404(b). See Wallace at 433, 683 S.E.2d at 277; Hubner, at 437, 683 S.E.2d at 280; State v. Beekman, 405 S.C. at 231-33, 746 S.E.2d at 487-88; Atieh at 648-49, 725 S.E.2d at 734.

#### **Rule 403 Analysis**

Appellant also contends that, even if Minor’s testimony was admissible under the common scheme or plan exception, her testimony was inadmissible because the probative value of her testimony was outweighed by the unfair prejudice. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 27). Under Rule 403, SCRE, evidence that is relevant may still be excluded when “its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” “Probative” means tending to prove or disprove. State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 609-10, 759 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2014) (citing Black's Law Dictionary 1323 (9th ed. 2009)). “‘Probative value’ is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case. It is the weight that a piece of relevant evidence will carry in helping the trier of fact decide the issues.” Id. at 610, 759 S.E.2d at 165.

The probative value of evidence must, of course, be weighed against the danger of unfair prejudice. “[T]he standard is not simply whether the evidence is prejudicial;

rather, the standard under Rule 403, SCRE, is whether there is a danger of *unfair* prejudice that *substantially* outweighs the probative value of the evidence.” State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 536, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014) (emphasis in original). “Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis.” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (citation omitted). Indeed, “[a]ll evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be avoided.” Id. (citation omitted).

“When [balancing the danger of unfair prejudice] against the probative value, the determination must be based on the entire record and will turn on the facts of each case.” State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 27-28 (2014) (citation omitted). “A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.” Id. at 534, 763 S.E.2d at 28 (citation omitted). “We review a trial court’s decision regarding Rule 403 pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and are obligated to give great deference to the trial court’s judgment.” Id. (citation omitted); see also State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 598 (Ct. App. 2001) (“If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.”), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

Speaking on the probative value of evidence under the common scheme or plan exception, the Court of Appeals in State v. Tutton, 354 S.C. 319, 580 S.E.2d 186 (Ct. App. 2003), observed as follows:

Where such a plan exists, the charged and uncharged acts represent individual achievements of the purposes for which the plan was

established. . . . Accordingly, the evidence in such cases speaks to the existence of the defendant's plan, not to the defendant's character. This is so because the jury is not asked to draw an inference that the prior bad acts would evince the defendant's propensity to commit the charged offenses; instead, the jury is asked to infer that the defendant developed a criminal scheme and employed that scheme as probative evidence that the charged acts occurred. . . .

Tutton, 354 S.C. at 330-31, 580 S.E.2d at 192-93 (citations omitted).

In Appellant's case, the high degree of similarity between the sexual assault of Minor and the sexual assault of the victim rendered Minor's testimony highly probative in the State's case. This is particularly true where there was no semen found inside the victim since Appellant used a condom. Cf. State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. at 158-59, 682 S.E.2d at 898-99 ("Finally, we hold the probative value of this evidence substantially outweighed the danger of unfair prejudice to Clasby. Given there was *no physical evidence* to corroborate B.C.'s testimony regarding the indicted offenses of CSC with a minor, first degree and lewd act upon a child, we find her testimony of Clasby's sustained illicit conduct was *extremely probative* to establish the charged criminal sexual conduct underlying the offense of lewd act upon a child." (emphasis added)). Further, Appellant testified in his defense and presented alibi witnesses, thereby creating a potential credibility contest between the victim and Appellant's witnesses. Evidence that supported the victim's claims by demonstrating Appellant's common scheme or plan was particularly probative under these circumstances. See State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 111-12, 771 S.E.2d 336, 341 (2015) ("While [common scheme or plan evidence] did not directly corroborate Victim's testimony, it supported her claims by demonstrating Appellant's common scheme of abusing those close to him.").

As stated in Tutton, the evidence spoke only to Appellant's plan, not his character, so the prior bad acts carried no danger of "unfair" prejudice. Further, any *possibility* of unfair prejudice was minimized by the trial court's thorough limiting instruction, given at the beginning of Minor's testimony, regarding the proper purpose of Lyle evidence:

Ladies and gentlemen, let me give you a charge, if I may, about this testimony, this evidence. You're hearing evidence that the defendant allegedly committed a previous sexual offense which is not the subject of a conviction other than the one for which he's on trial here today. This testimony if you conclude it is true, may only be considered by you on the question of whether there exists some common scheme or plan with regard to these alleged acts and for no other reason and no other purpose. You may give this evidence the weight and value, if any, that you find it should have on the sole issue of whether there may be some common scheme or plan existing here. You must not consider as evidence of the commission of another alleged sexual offense as proof of the defendant's guilt of the charge that we're trying here today; nor as proof of a trait of his character, nor to actions in conformity with that trait of character. With that understanding, you may proceed.

(R. p. 172, line 13 – p. 173, line 9). The trial judge gave a similar admonishment in the final jury charge. (See R. p. 423, line 19 – p. 424, line 12). Significantly, it is well-established that jurors are *presumed* to follow instructions provided by a trial judge. See e.g., State v. Grovenstein, 335 S.C. 347, 353, 517 S.E.2d 216, 219 (1999) (jurors are presumed to follow the law as instructed to them); see also State v. Trotter, 317 S.C. 411, 414, 453 S.E.2d 905, 907 (Ct. App. 1995) ("The trial judge's limiting instruction regarding the nature of Busterna's testimony assured no prejudice would occur."); Judy v. Judy, 384 S.C. 634, 643-44, 682 S.E.2d 836, 841 (Ct. App. 2009) ("Furthermore, to the extent the admission of the prior judgment may have prejudiced Ronnie, we find any prejudice was alleviated when the trial court gave a limiting instruction to the jury as to the proper purpose for which the evidence of the prior judgment was to be used.").

In sum, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion in weighing the probative value of the prior bad act evidence against its potential for undue prejudice. See Wallace, 384 S.C. at 435, 683 S.E.2d at 278-79 (the trial judge properly admitted evidence regarding prior incidents of sexual abuse against the victim's sister where the probative value of this evidence substantially outweighed the danger of unfair prejudice); Beekman, 405 S.C. at 233, 746 S.E.2d at 487 ("We further find no error in the trial court's determination that the probative value of the prior bad act evidence outweighed the danger of unfair prejudice to Beekman under Rule 403, SCRE."); State v. Atieh, 397 S.C. at 649, 725 S.E.2d at 734 ("The trial court instructed the jury it could not consider evidence of bad acts for any reason other than intent, common scheme or plan, or absence of mistake. It specifically cautioned the jury against considering the testimony as proof of Atieh's guilt. The trial court took all precautions to reduce any prejudice Employee 4's testimony may have created and Atieh has shown no clear evidence Employee 4's testimony improperly influenced the jury's verdict. Therefore, we find the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting Employee 4's testimony."). The trial judge's Rule 403 determination in this case should not be reversed. See State v. Stephens, 398 S.C. 314, 319-20, 728 S.E.2d 68, 71 (Ct. App. 2012) ("If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.") (citations omitted).

### **Harmless Error**

In any event, even assuming the trial judge erred in admitting the prior bad act testimony, Appellant did not suffer prejudice warranting a new trial. Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the

result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). Harmless error analyses are fact-intensive inquiries and are not governed by a definite set of rules. State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 447–48, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011); State v. Davis, 371 S.C. 170, 181, 638 S.E.2d 57, 63 (2006). Appellate courts must determine the materiality and prejudicial character of the error in relation to the entire case. Byers, 392 S.C. at 448, 710 S.E.2d at 60. “When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989). An error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008); see also State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012) (“Engaging in this harmless error analysis, we note that our jurisprudence requires us not to question whether the State proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt, but whether beyond a reasonable doubt the trial error did not contribute to the guilty verdict.”).

In Appellant’s case, any error with respect to admission of Minor’s prior bad act testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because there was overwhelming evidence Appellant committed criminal sexual conduct in the first degree with the victim. The victim testified at trial, providing a detailed account of events leading up to the sexual assault, the sexual assault itself, and the events that followed. (See R. p. 119-168). Notably, she reported the rape to her mother immediately, as soon as she arrived home and was outside of the custody and control of Appellant. (R. p. 190-91). The nurse who collected evidence from the victim at the hospital recounted the victim’s highly consistent version of events as told to her that night. (See R. p. 241-42). The nurse also testified

about scratch marks she found on the victim's buttock and thigh, which were consistent with the victim's account of sexual assault. (R. p. 242, lines 6-13). The victim also provided a consistent version of events to the responding police officers. (See R. p. 161-64; p. 198-205; p. 209-22; p. 498-99). In addition to providing the police with Appellant's license plate number, the victim also positively identified Appellant as her attacker from a photo lineup. (R. p. 204; p. 219-21). Finally, and perhaps most significantly, Appellant's DNA was found on the buttonhole of the jeans the victim was wearing on the night of the sexual assault. (R. p. 256; p. 273-75). Although Appellant testified at trial and presented an alibi defense, he denied ever having sex with the victim yet provided no plausible explanation regarding why his DNA would be found on the *buttonhole* of the jeans the victim was wearing on the night of the sexual assault.<sup>7</sup> (See R. p. 344-52).

In the State's view, the evidence of Appellant's guilt on the charged offenses was overwhelming. Therefore, any error with respect to admission of the prior bad act evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Parker, 315 S.C. 230, 234-35, 433 S.E.2d 831, 833 (1993) (although it was error to admit evidence of the defendant's prior bad acts under the common scheme or plan exception because the State failed to show more than a general similarity, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt due to the overwhelming evidence of guilt separate and apart from the evidence of the prior bad acts); see also State v. Jenkins, Op. No. 27537 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed July 1, 2015) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 25 at 9) (finding that any error in admission

---

<sup>7</sup> Appellant asserted he and the victim "never physically got together" but stated he saw the victim once at her aunt's house in Hartsville. (R. p. 350-51). He further claimed that, while he was seated in his car, he gave the victim a hug and his "finger or hand could have touched" the victim's buttonhole. (R. p. 352, lines 3-5). Appellant admitted that this alleged hug occurred two weeks to a month prior to the date of the charged offense. (R. p. 352, lines 6-17).

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